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 Raymond Davenport is now on his third pro se attempt to plead civil rights liability under 

the First and Second Amendment and federal and state laws against a hospital, police department 

and their identified agents arising from his commitment to the hospital on Shabbat due to the 

police’s concerns regarding his mental condition.  After three attempts, he still has not plead 

facts giving rise to civil rights liability under the First and Second Amendment or otherwise 

under federal law, with the exception of a Fourth Amendment claim against a police officer. His 

third attempt will proceed on two claims subject to review following discovery: a civil rights 

claim under the Fourth Amendment against one of the police officers and an intentional infliction 

of emotional distress claim against the hospital and its agents and the police officers.  In the 

accompanying Orders, we grant the motions to dismiss the remaining claims and dismiss the 

police department. 

I. Allegations 

 

Raymond Davenport, a devout Jewish person, experienced “disorientation of thoughts 

and confusion” on April 3, 2015.
1
  He continued to work and practice his Jewish religion.

2
  Over 

the next six days, Mr. Davenport became “increasingly sensitive to humanitarian issues in the 
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world and maintained a positive and peaceful demeanor.”
3
  On April 9, 2015, Mr. Davenport’s 

physician deemed him “not a harm to himself or others.”
4
  

On April 10, 2015, Mr. Davenport drove to the grocery store to purchase food for 

Shabbat.
5
  While grocery shopping, Mr. Davenport became “increasingly confused and did not 

properly use the self-checkout machine in the store.”
6
  Mr. Davenport then left the grocery store 

but could not locate his car in the parking lot.
7
  A store employee approached Mr. Davenport in 

the parking lot and asked him to return to the grocery store.
8
   

 The grocery store called North Coventry Township Police regarding possible theft 

because of Mr. Davenport’s “incorrect checkout procedure and subsequent walk out to the 

parking lot.”
9
   Mr. Davenport attempted to pay for the groceries “to make it right.”

10
  Police 

Officer Victoria Hipple and Detective Timothy Prouty found Mr. Davenport to be severely 

confused but decided he did not intend to commit theft based on his confusion and subsequent 

cooperation.
11

  The grocery store declined to pursue theft charges against Mr. Davenport due to 

his confusion.
12

 

 For an unknown reason, at approximately 12:30 P.M., the Police placed Mr. Davenport 

into custody.
13

  They handcuffed Mr. Davenport and then searched him.
14

  The officers then 

drove him to the police station and kept him handcuffed in the holding area.
15

  The Police 

requested Ebony Willis from Valley Creek Crisis evaluate Mr. Davenport’s mental state.
 16

  She 

evaluated him while he remained handcuffed in the Police’s holding area.
17

 

 After Ms. Willis evaluated him, the Police told Mr. Davenport to sign a “201 for 

voluntary treatment or be faced with criminal charges and incarceration.”
18

  They also told Mr. 

Davenport “life would be more difficult” if he refused to sign the “201.”
19

  Mr. Davenport signed 

the “201.”
20
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 Officer Hipple then drove Mr. Davenport to Pottstown Memorial Hospital for drug and 

alcohol screening and medical clearance.
21

  Officer Hipple gave Mr. Davenport’s signed 201 

paperwork to a Hospital crisis worker named Lauren.
22

  Mr. Davenport does not know what 

other instructions or information Officer Hipple provided Lauren and the Hospital.
23

  Lauren 

communicated with the Police and Ms. Willis during Mr. Davenport’s time at the Hospital.
24

 

 Mr. Davenport then “signed himself in to [the Hospital] with disoriented thoughts, 

confusion, and reduced physical awareness under threats of incarceration and criminal 

prosecution if he did not sign himself in at” the Hospital.
25

  When the Hospital admitted Mr. 

Davenport, it assessed him as “confused and disoriented, but not a harm to himself or others.”
26

   

During his evaluation, Mr. Davenport explained he kept kosher for Passover and required 

kosher food.
27

  The Hospital noted his mention of religious dietary restrictions but interpreted 

Mr. Davenport to be on a “fasting strike” and described his mention of Passover as “rambl[ing] a 

little bit about Passover.”
28

  Mr. Davenport alleges Hospital employee Registered Nurse Nancy 

Coyne is responsible for the medical records describing Mr. Davenport’s supposed fasting 

strike.
29

    

 When admitting Mr. Davenport, the Hospital erroneously combined his medical records 

with another patient’s medical records and included the other patient’s history of self-mutilation, 

suicide attempts, and suicidal statements.
30

  The Hospital staff placed Mr. Davenport in a room 

without furniture and left him without supervision for over an hour in the emergency room 

area.
31

  During this hour or so, Mr. Davenport grew even more confused and disoriented and his 

condition deteriorated from the sight and sounds of others’ trauma.
32

    

Sometime later, while still admitted at the Hospital, Mr. Davenport “fell to the floor and 

became unresponsive and unconscious for an extended period of time.”
33

  The Hospital staff 
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attempted to revive Mr. Davenport by “scraping the sternum and trapezius muscle pinching 

which caused intense pain” and long-scarring to his sternum.
34

  Mr. Davenport alleges Doctor 

Pamela Franz and Registered Nurse Rita Andrew treated him while admitted to the Hospital and 

their lack of supervision caused his fall.
35

  Mr. Davenport’s fall caused his “condition 

immediately and significantly worsened” changing his mental state and behavior.
36

  Because of 

his fall, Mr. Davenport also needed extended treatment at other facilities and suffered “extreme 

long-term pain and suffering.”
37

    

 At some point during Mr. Davenport’s April 10
th

 day, Hospital employee Jose Ortiz 

contacted the North Coventry Police because Ms. Willis, the crisis center worker, signed the 

paperwork in the incorrect place.
38

  Mr. Ortiz spoke with Police Officer Jesse Smith who is a K-9 

Drug Specialist.
39

  Officer Smith allegedly told Mr. Ortiz if Mr. Davenport refused to sign 

another 201 then Officer Smith “would incarcerate [Mr. Davenport] and complete a criminal 

complaint.”
40

  “The police report states [the Hospital] attempted to get new 201 forms signed” 

from Mr. Davenport for the Police.
41

 

 Officer Smith arrived at the Hospital at approximately 11:00 p.m. on April 10th to 

evaluate Mr. Davenport and “determine if behavior of [Mr. Davenport] had changed from earlier 

in the day” and work with Mr. Ortiz to force Mr. Davenport to sign a new 201 form.
42

 Mr. 

Davenport alleges the Hospital pressured him to sign the paperwork on Shabbat in disregard, 

intolerance and deprivation of his First Amendment freedom of religion rights.
43

  Upon arriving 

at the Hospital, Officer Smith described himself as “frustrated” stating Mr. Davenport “is on 

drugs” and “should be locked up.”
44

  Officer Smith also stated Mr. Davenport “‘was full of 

drugs’ or ‘definitely on drugs.’”
45

   Mr. Davenport had no drugs or alcohol in his system 

according to the Hospital’s lab blood tests.
46
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 Officer Smith then went to Mr. Davenport’s hospital room while Mr. Davenport was in a 

period of “forced and short moment of consciousness.”
47

  Mr. Davenport expressed being in pain 

and disoriented and asked someone to close the door to his room to reduce the stressful 

environment.
48

  No one would shut the door so Mr. Davenport got out of bed and attempted to 

shut the door.
49

  When he began walking, Officer Smith grabbed Mr. Davenport “by the arm then 

proceeded to do a ‘left arm bar’ driving [him] into the wall and handcuffed [him] behind his 

back.”
50

  Officer Smith also grabbed Mr. Davenport by the throat area when pinning him against 

the wall and asked “2 questions regarding harm to self or others” and Mr. Davenport responded 

“no” to both questions.
51

  Officer Smith then rephrased his first question to ask if Mr. Davenport 

was suicidal “at which point Office[r] Smith claims [Mr. Davenport] responded ‘yes.’ ”
52

  Mr. 

Davenport pleads the “alleged ‘yes’ is in response to the significant trauma, stress, assault, and 

battery experienced over the past few hours.”
53

  Officer Smith then called Hospital security and 

together they applied additional restraints to Mr. Davenport to secure him in the bed.
54

 

 Officer Smith used Mr. Davenport’s “yes” to the suicide question to complete a 302 

involuntary commitment form.
55

  The 302 involuntary commitment form overrode Mr. 

Davenport’s 201 voluntary commitment paperwork.
56

  Mr. Ortiz stated he would complete the 

contact work for Mr. Davenport’s 302 involuntary commitment and “further processing to have 

the 302 petition by Officer Smith approved.”
57

 

 Feeling under “significant scrutiny” and not wanting to support the fasting strike claim, 

Mr. Davenport ate the oatmeal, not Kosher for Passover, the Hospital served to him on April 

11th.
58

   

 Mr. Davenport alleges Officer Smith, Detective Prouty, and Hospital employee Ortiz 

conspired to deprive him of his right to keep and bear arms.
59

  At some point during his ordeal, 
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Detective Prouty told Mr. Davenport he would not lose civil rights and there would be no record 

of his treatment.
60

  Detective Prouty’s false information led Mr. Davenport to make “appeals and 

other actions not [to] be pursued to defend civil rights including the Second Amendment.”
61

  

Officer Smith then assaulted and traumatized Mr. Davenport “to manipulate and claim the need 

for an involuntary commitment” while Hospital employee Ortiz worked with him and secured 

approval for the 302 involuntary commitment form.
62

  Mr. Davenport does not allege anyone 

deprived him of a firearm.  

II. Analysis  

 

 Mr. Davenport pro se sued North Coventry Township Police Department alleging § 1983 

civil rights liability for violating his First Amendment rights, Monell municipal liability based on 

failure to train/supervise, violations of 42 U.S.C. § 2000bb and 71 Pa. Stat. Ann. § 2403, and 

intentional infliction of emotional distress.   He also sued police officer Jesse Smith alleging § 

1983 civil rights liability for violating his First, Second, and Fourth Amendment rights and state 

law claims for malicious prosecution and intentional infliction of emotional distress.  Mr. 

Davenport also alleges police officer Victoria Hipple violated his First Amendment rights and 

Detective Timothy Prouty violated his Second Amendment rights and asserts intentional 

infliction of emotional distress against both. 

 Mr. Davenport also sued three Hospital employees: Dr. Franz, Nurse Andrews, and Mr. 

Ortiz.  Against Dr. Franz, Mr. Davenport alleges § 1983 civil rights liability and state law claims 

for medical negligence and intentional infliction of emotional distress.  Mr. Davenport alleges 

state law claims of medical negligence and intentional infliction of emotional distress against 

Nurse Andrews.  He alleges § 1983 civil rights liability against Mr. Ortiz for violating his First 
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and Second Amendment rights and a state law claim for intentional infliction of emotional 

distress. 

The various Defendants move to dismiss some or all of the claims against them.
63

  While 

pro se pleadings “must be held to less stringent standards than formal pleadings drafted by 

lawyers,” they must “still allege sufficient facts in their complaints to support a claim.”
64

    

A. We dismiss Mr. Davenport’s § 1983 claims. 

To successfully plead a “basic cause of action” for a § 1983 claim, Mr. Davenport must 

allege facts showing “(1) … the conduct complained of was committed by a person acting under 

color of state law; and (2) … the conduct deprived the plaintiff of rights, privileges, or 

immunities secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States.”
65

   

1. Mr. Davenport fails to plead First and Second Amendment claims against North 

Coventry Township and its officers.  

 

Mr. Davenport claims North Coventry Township, Officer Hipple, Officer Smith, and 

Detective Prouty violated § 1983 by infringing upon his First and Second Amendment rights. 

The North Coventry Township Police Department, Officer Smith, Officer Hipple, and Detective 

Prouty move to dismiss Mr. Davenport’s claims against them with the exception of Mr. 

Davenport’s Fourth Amendment claim against Officer Smith.   

i. Mr. Davenport fails to plead a First Amendment claim against the 

Police Department or its Officers.  

 

Mr. Davenport alleges the Police Department, Officer Smith, and Officer Hipple deprived 

him of his civil rights under the First Amendment by transporting him in a vehicle on Shabbat, 

failing to serve Kosher on Shabbat during Passover despite his request, and forcing him to sign 

documents during Shabbat.   
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Only the actor who “played an ‘affirmative part’ in the alleged misconduct, either 

through personal direction of or actual knowledge and acquiescence in the deprivation” commits 

the violation under § 1983.
66

  We cannot find liability against an entity, deemed acting under the 

color of state law, “premised on a theory of respondeat superior.”
67

  Mr. Davenport cannot state a 

§ 1983 violation of his First Amendment rights against the Police Department because it is not 

the actor allegedly violating Mr. Davenport’s rights; its employees are the alleged actors.  We 

dismiss the § 1983 First Amendment claims against the Police Department because Mr. 

Davenport must allege claims against the Police Department through Monell municipal liability.   

As to the individual officers, Mr. Davenport alleges Officer Hipple took him into custody 

at the grocery store and brought him to the Police station. Officer Hipple then sometime later 

drove him to the Hospital and provided crisis worker “Lauren” with his 201 paperwork.  Mr. 

Davenport alleges forcing him to eat non-Kosher food, signing documents, and being transported 

by vehicle after Shabbat began violates the First Amendment.  Even assuming these are First 

Amendment violations, Mr. Davenport does not allege how Officer Hipple is involved with the 

non-Kosher food served or the transport to a different facility.  Instead, as Mr. Davenport admits, 

Officer Hipple placed Mr. Davenport into custody and transported him to the Hospital before 

Shabbat began based on his allegation he “voluntarily admitted himself [to the Hospital] before 

Shabbat.”
68

 As Mr. Davenport fails to plead facts describing how Officer Hipple violated his 

First Amendment rights, we dismiss this claim against her. 

Mr. Davenport alleges Officer Smith violated his First Amendment right to free exercise 

by attempting to coerce him to sign the commitment document during Shabbat.  Mr. Davenport’s 

free exercise claims against Officer Smith are barred by qualified immunity. The doctrine of 

qualified immunity protects government officials from liability for civil damages so long as their 
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conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights known to a 

reasonable person.
69

  For a right to be “clearly established,” the “contours of the right must be 

sufficiently clear that a reasonable official would understand that what he is doing violates that 

right.”
70

  The court must determine whether a reasonable official “could have believed” their 

actions were lawful at the time of the alleged violation.
71

  Qualified immunity is appropriate 

unless the unlawfulness of the act is apparent.
72

  We resolve questions of qualified immunity at 

the “earliest possible stage in litigation.”
73

  

In Saucier v. Katz, the Supreme Court defined the two-part framework for analyzing 

qualified immunity defenses.  First, plaintiff must plead facts demonstrating “the violation of a 

constitutional right.”
74

  If the plaintiff successfully pleads such a violation, we then determine 

whether the “right at issue was clearly established at the time of the defendant’s alleged 

misconduct.”
75

  We are not bound by this rigid temporal sequence.
76

  We may address either 

prong based on the circumstances of the particular case.
77

  

We elect to address the second prong of the Saucier analysis.  To succeed on a § 1983 

First Amendment free exercise claim, Mr. Davenport must plead Officer Smith violated a 

“clearly established statutory or constitutional right.”
78

  Mr. Davenport pleads Officer Smith 

attempted to coerce him to sign commitment paperwork on Shabbat.
79

  Mr. Davenport alleges his 

Jewish faith forbids him from signing documents on Shabbat.
80

  Mr. Davenport alleges Officer 

Smith threatened him with incarceration and criminal charges if he did not sign the documents.
81

 

A thorough review of the case law reveals no clearly established right to abstain from signing 

paperwork on Shabbat. Regardless, Mr. Davenport fails to allege such a clearly established right.  

Mr. Davenport also fails to allege facts showing Officer Smith knew of such a right and 

consciously violated it.  Mr. Davenport pleads no facts demonstrating the apparent illegality of 
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Officer Smith’s actions or why Officer Smith could not reasonably believe his actions were 

lawful. Because we find no clearly established right, we do not address whether Officer Smith 

actually violated Mr. Davenport’s First Amendment free exercise rights under Saucier.  We grant 

Officer Smith’s motion to dismiss Mr. Davenport’s § 1983 First Amendment free exercise claim.  

ii. Mr. Davenport fails to plead Second Amendment claims against 

Officer Smith or Detective Prouty.  

 

Mr. Davenport alleges Officer Smith and Detective Prouty violated his Second 

Amendment rights by placing him in commitment based on false statements and physical assault. 

Mr. Davenport argues his involuntary commitment now prohibits him from owning a firearm.  

He never pleads possessing a firearm. Officer Smith and Detective Prouty argue they did not 

deprive Mr. Davenport of his Second Amendment rights.   

To plead this Second Amendment claim, Mr. Davenport must allege the officers deprived 

him of the right to possess a firearm.   Mr. Davenport alleges Detective Prouty falsely told him 

“there would be no loss of civil rights and no record after treatment which would affect [Mr. 

Davenport’s] rights.”
82

  Mr. Davenport alleges Officer Smith assaulted and manipulated his 

words to involuntarily commit Mr. Davenport.
83

 Mr. Davenport alleges Officer Smith placed him 

in an arm-bar, handcuffed him, and misconstrued Mr. Davenport’s words by claiming Mr. 

Davenport felt suicidal.
84

  Mr. Davenport alleges Officer Smith used his coerced suicidal 

statement to involuntarily commit Mr. Davenport under § 302.
85

   

Construing Mr. Davenport’s complaint in the light most favorable to him, he fails to 

allege Officer Smith and Detective Prouty violated his Second Amendment rights. Mr. 

Davenport alleges the officers took steps which eventually resulted in a “violation of [Mr. 

Davenport’s] Second Amendment rights.”
86

  Mr. Davenport does not allege he ever owned a 

firearm, nor does he allege either officer prevented him from possessing a firearm.
87

 Regardless, 
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a thorough search of the case law fails to show Second Amendment violations when police make 

deceitful statements during involuntarily commitments. Even assuming Officer Smith and 

Detective Prouty lied while involuntarily committing Mr. Davenport, these actions did not 

prevent Mr. Davenport from possessing a firearm.
 
Mr. Davenport fails to state a Second 

Amendment claim against Officer Smith and Detective Prouty. 

2. Mr. Davenport fails to plead First or Second Amendment claims against Mr. 

Ortiz or Dr. Franz.   

 

Mr. Davenport alleges § 1983 claims against Mr. Ortiz and Dr. Franz, alleging they 

violated his First Amendment rights by failing to provide him with kosher food on Shabbat.
88

 

Mr. Davenport alleges Mr. Ortiz violated his religious rights by 1) failing to conform to his 

religious dietary restrictions, 2) pressuring him to sign documents on Shabbat, and 3) “using [Mr. 

Davenport’s] beard and hair, which was within a religious appropriate style, as a way of 

supporting medical and psychological claims against [him].”
89

  Mr. Davenport also alleges 

Second Amendment claims alleging Mr. Ortiz “worked and conspired with” the police officers to 

complete the requisite form to have him involuntarily committed which, in turn,  resulted in the 

loss of his right to possess a firearm.
90

  

For Mr. Ortiz to be liable, Mr. Davenport must first plead he committed the alleged 

misconduct “under color of state law.”
91

  For liability under the United States Constitution, Mr. 

Ortiz’s alleged misconduct must involve “state action.”
92

  The “principal question” is whether 

there exists a “close nexus” between the state and Mr. Ortiz’s alleged misconduct allowing us to 

conclude the “private behavior may be fairly treated as that of the State itself.”
93

   

Our court of appeals devised three tests to determine if state action exists: “(1) whether 

the private entity has exercised powers that are traditionally the exclusive prerogative of the 

state; (2) whether the private party has acted with the help of or in concert with state officials; 
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and (3) whether the state has so far insinuated itself into a position of interdependence with the 

acting party that it must be recognized as a joint participant in the challenged activity.”
94

  Under 

each test, “the inquiry is fact-specific.”
95

  

A decision made by “private parties according to professional standards that are not 

established by the state” is not state action.
96

  In Polk County v. Dodson, our Supreme Court held 

a public defender does not act “under color of state law” when his decisions “in the course of 

representing his client were framed in accordance with professional canons of ethics, rather than 

dictated by any rule of conduct imposed by the State” even though the state employed the 

defender and appointed him to represent a defendant.
97

  The Court concluded the defender’s 

“assignment entailed functions and obligations in no way dependent on state authority.”
98

 

 “A private actor and a public actor working in concert can form a civil conspiracy to 

violate an individual’s civil rights under section 1983.”
99

  For a § 1983 conspiracy claim, Mr. 

Davenport must plead “with particularity the ‘circumstances’ of the alleged wrong doing in order 

to place the defendants on notice of the precise misconduct with which they are charged.”
100

  He 

must address: “(1) the period of the conspiracy, (2) the object of the conspiracy, and (3) certain 

actions of the alleged conspirators taken to achieve that purpose.”
101

  A private entity’s acts may 

be attributable to the state where the actor invokes the aid of state officials to take advantage of 

state procedures.
102

  In Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co., the Supreme Court held “a private party’s 

joint participation with state officials in the seizure of disputed property is sufficient to 

characterize that party as a ‘state actor’ for purposes of the Fourteenth Amendment.”
103

   

A plaintiff claiming a § 1983 violation must allege specific facts connecting the private 

party’s actions to the conspiracy.
104

  In Labolokie v. Capital Area Intermediate Unit, the plaintiff 

brought a § 1983 conspiracy claim against a corporate entity and two of its agents after the 
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defendants barred his ability to contract with the company.
105

  The court found the plaintiff failed 

to state a claim against one of the agents because, while the plaintiff identified the time period of 

the alleged conspiracy and the object of the conspiracy (preventing him from contracting with 

the company), he did not allege “specific conduct whatsoever connecting” the agent with the 

conspiracy.
106

  The plaintiff alleged his “termination” occurred with the agent’s “‘agreement’ 

and ‘support’” and the agent “since ‘continued, up-held, ratified, and approved the wrongful 

acts,’” which the court found to be inadequate “conclusory allegations” without an “underlying 

factual scenario involving [the agent] about which the conclusions could be said to be true or 

false.”
107

 

i. Mr. Davenport fails to plead First or Second Amendment claims 

against Mr. Ortiz.  

 

Mr. Davenport fails to allege facts Mr. Ortiz acted “under color of state law” when 

soliciting a signature on the commitment form from him.  Similar to the plaintiff in Dodson who 

failed to allege the defender acted “under color of state law” and not in accord with his 

professional standards as an attorney when representing his client,
108

 Mr. Davenport fails to 

allege facts indicating Mr. Ortiz acted “under color of state law” and not according to his 

professional judgment as an employee of the Hospital.  He alleges “Defendant Jesse Smith and 

Defendant Ortiz are known at this time to be directly responsible for the attempts to coerce a 

signature from [Mr. Davenport] on Shabbat.”
109

  Mr. Davenport does not indicate such a 

procedure exceeded the professional standards of Mr. Ortiz’s position as an employee of the 

hospital.  He does not allege facts indicating Mr. Ortiz’s  actions depended on authority from the 

state or showing he worked directly with Officer Smith or any other state actor to prepare the 

302 form or compel Mr. Davenport to sign the 201 form.  The mere fact the police officers 

allegedly coerced Mr. Davenport to sign the 201 form
110

 and encouraged the 302 commitment
111
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does not indicate Mr. Ortiz acted “under the color of state law” when he allegedly acted to 

“coerce a signature from [Mr. Davenport] on Shabbat”
112

 and helped prepare the 302 form
113

 in 

his capacity as an employee of the Hospital. 

Mr. Davenport also failed to allege facts to support a § 1983 conspiracy claim because he 

failed to establish Mr. Ortiz worked in concert with a state actor to deprive Mr. Davenport of his 

civil rights.  Similar to the plaintiff in Labolokie who alleged the time period and object of the 

conspiracy without pleading facts connecting the agent to the alleged conspiracy,
114

 Mr. 

Davenport failed to plead facts connecting Mr. Ortiz to a conspiracy to deprive him of his rights.  

He alleges “Defendant Jesse Smith and Defendant Ortiz are known at this time to be directly 

responsible for the attempts to coerce a signature from [Mr. Davenport] on Shabbat.”
115

  He 

alleges “[t]he pressuring to sign documents included threats of incarceration and criminal 

charges against [him] for not signing documents on Shabbat” and “Defendants” referred to his 

“beard and hair, which was within a religious appropriate style, as a way of supporting medical 

and psychological claims against” him.
116

  Mr. Davenport does not specifically identify the 

“Defendants” or identify Mr. Ortiz as one who threatened him with incarceration or criminal 

charges or used his appearance as a means of “supporting medical and psychological claims 

against” him.
117

  Mr. Davenport alleges Mr. Ortiz  “[is] known at this time to be directly 

responsible for the attempts to coerce a signature from [Mr. Davenport] on Shabbat”
118

 and 

helped to complete and “[secure] approval of the 302 form,”
119

 but does not plead facts of Mr. 

Ortiz acting in furtherance of a conspiracy with the police officers.  Mr. Davenport claims Mr. 

Ortiz “worked and conspired” with the officers to have him involuntarily committed “which led 

to the violation of [his] second amendment rights.”
120

  This is the type of conclusory allegation 
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found to be inadequate in Labolokie as it fails to plead what actions Mr. Ortiz took when he 

“worked and conspired” with the officers.   

We find Mr. Davenport failed to allege facts demonstrating Mr. Ortiz acted “under color 

of state law.”  We dismiss his First and Second Amendment claims against Mr. Ortiz.    

ii. Mr. Davenport fails to state a First Amendment claim against Dr. 

Franz.  

 

Mr. Davenport fails to allege Dr. Franz is a state actor. Mr. Davenport does not plead 

facts showing Dr. Franz exercised authority traditionally reserved for the state, received help 

from the state, or insinuated herself into a position of interdependence with the state.  Instead, 

Mr. Davenport’s First Amendment claim only mentions Dr. Franz in the claim caption.
121

 Mr. 

Davenport does not allege Dr. Franz participated in serving Mr. Davenport’s non-kosher food. 

Mr. Davenport only claims the timeframe of Dr. Franz’s care overlapped with the other alleged 

First Amendment violations.
122

  His conclusory allegations do not state a First Amendment claim 

against Dr. Franz under § 1983.  

B. Mr. Davenport does not plead a supervisory liability claim against the Police 

Department. 

 

Mr. Davenport alleges the Police Department is liable for failure to “adequately hire, 

train, supervise, and/or otherwise direct its employees establish a system to identify or report 

improper conduct, and adequately sanction and discipline its employees … concerning the rights 

of citizens."
123

  He alleges the Police Department through Officer Hipple, Detective Prouty, and 

Officer Smith violated his constitutional rights under the First, Second, Fourth, and Fourteenth 

Amendments.  

A municipality may be liable under § 1983 when its policy or custom causes the 

constitutional violation.
124

  To plead a Monell claim, Mr. Davenport must allege: “(1) he 
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possessed a constitutional right of which he was deprived; (2) the municipality had a policy [or 

custom]; (3) the policy [or custom] ‘amounted to deliberate indifference’ to his constitutional 

right; and (4) the policy [or custom] was the ‘moving force’ behind the constitutional 

violation.”
125

   

Liability for failure to train subordinate officers lies only where a constitutional violation 

results from “deliberate indifference to the constitutional rights of [the municipality's] 

inhabitants.”
126

  “A single incident of unconstitutional activity is not sufficient to impose liability 

under Monell, unless proof of the incident includes proof that it was caused by an existing, 

unconstitutional municipal policy, which policy can be attributed to a municipal policymaker.”
127

   

To succeed on a failure to train claim, Mr. Davenport must plead the Police Department, 

the policymaker, made a “deliberate” or “conscious” decision to not train or supervise.
128

  “A 

pattern of similar constitutional violations by untrained employees is ‘ordinarily necessary’ to 

demonstrate deliberate indifference for . . . failure to train.”
129

  Mr. Davenport only pleads the 

Police Department generally does not train its officers on “the rights of citizens.” Mr. Davenport 

does not plead which constitutional rights the Police failed to train. He also does not plead a 

pattern of similar constitutional violations.  

Alternatively, Mr. Davenport may prove deliberate indifference by showing: “(1) 

municipal policymakers know that employees will confront a particular situation; (2) the 

situation involves a difficult choice or a history of employees mishandling; and (3) the wrong 

choice by an employee will frequently cause deprivation of constitutional rights.”
130

   

Mr. Davenport fails to plead the Police Department had contemporaneous knowledge of 

constitutional violations or facts to indicate a pattern of similar violations.  He does not meet the 

pleading standard because he does not plead the Police Department’s “policy [or custom] 
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‘amounted to deliberate indifference’” by demonstrating a pattern of violations beyond the 

violation of his constitutional rights.
131

 He also fails to plead Police officers and detectives acted 

under a policy which “was the ‘moving force’ behind the constitutional violations.”
132

  We grant 

the Police Department’s motion to dismiss Mr. Davenport’s Monell claim.  

C. Mr. Davenport does not plead a claim against the Police Department under the 

Religious Freedom Restoration Act. 

 

 Mr. Davenport alleges the Police Department substantially burdened his free exercise of 

religion under the Religious Freedom Restoration Act of 1993, 42 U.S.C. § 2000bb by pressuring 

him to sign documents during Shabbat without compelling justification.
133

  This statute is 

unconstitutional as applied to states and their agencies such as police departments.
134

  

We dismiss Mr. Davenport’s claim under the federal Religious Freedom Restoration Act 

of 1993.  

D. Mr. Davenport does not plead a claim under 71 Pa. Stat. Ann. § 2404.  

Mr. Davenport alleges the Police Department substantially burdened his free exercise of 

religion under Pennsylvania’s Religious Freedom Restoration Act (Act) by pressuring him to 

sign documents during Shabbat without compelling justification.
135

 The Act prohibits “an 

agency” from “substantially burden[ing] an individual’s free exercise of religion, including any 

burden which results from a rule of general applicability” unless the agency has a compelling 

government interest and the burden is the least restrictive means necessary.
136

  Liberally 

construing his complaint, Mr. Davenport alleges the Police Department substantially burdened 

his religious observance of Shabbat by attempting to enforce Pennsylvania’s Mental Health 

Procedures Act on Shabbat.  He argues Officer Smith’s attempt to coerce him to sign a corrected 

copy of his voluntary commitment form in compliance with the Act violated his observance of 

Shabbat’s restriction on making agreements and signing documents.   
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 Pennsylvania requires an individual asserting a violation under the Act to provide 

statutory notice to the agency before bringing a judicial action.
137

  Mr. Davenport does not plead 

what, if any, notice he provided the Police Department before filing this claim and does not plead 

one of the four statutory exceptions to notice.
138

  While no Pennsylvania courts have addressed 

notice requirements, another district court held “[b]ecause compliance with a statutory notice 

provision is a prerequisite to jurisdiction, the failure to comply with such a provision renders the 

court unable to hear the claim.”
139

 

 We dismiss Mr. Davenport’s claim under Pennsylvania’s Religious Freedom Restoration 

Act. 

E. Mr. Davenport does not plead a claim against Officer Smith for malicious 

prosecution. 

 

 Mr. Davenport alleges Officer Smith maliciously prosecuted him by withholding 

information and/or providing false information.  To state a claim for malicious prosecution, Mr. 

Davenport must first allege Officer Smith “initiated a criminal proceeding” against him.
140

  Mr. 

Davenport does not allege Officer Smith initiated criminal proceedings against him.  Instead he 

alleges Officer Smith threatened him with criminal prosecution if he did not sign a voluntary 

commitment form which is more appropriate under his Fourth Amendment claim against Officer 

Smith.  We dismiss Mr. Davenport’s malicious prosecution claim against Officer Smith because 

he does not allege Officer Smith initiated a criminal prosecution against him. 

F. Mr. Davenport fails to plead a reasonable explanation or legitimate excuse for his 

continuing failure to adduce a certificate of merit necessary for pleading medical 

negligence.  
 

Mr. Davenport alleges medical negligence claims against Dr. Franz and Nurse Andrews, 

and medical negligence and corporate negligence claims against the Hospital. Mr. Davenport 

alleges all three defendants failed to manage his confusion and disorientation, failed to 
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adequately supervise and monitor him, and failed to properly maintain his medical records.  He 

claims the Hospital failed to employ, train, manage, and retain competent staff, maintain its 

facilities and equipment, and “establish policies and procedures that address the needs and 

concerns of the patients.”
141

  We previously dismissed Mr. Davenport’s medical negligence 

claim as pleaded in his First Amended complaint because Mr. Davenport did not file a certificate 

of merit within 60 days of his first complaint.
142

  We provided Mr. Davenport the opportunity to 

present “further evidence sufficient to establish a reasonable explanation or legitimate excuse for 

his noncompliance with the certificate of merit requirement” in order to reinstate his claim
143

 

“Under Pennsylvania law, medical negligence ‘can be broadly defined as the unwarranted 

departure from generally accepted standards of medical practice resulting in injury to a patient, 

including all liability-producing conduct arising from the rendition of professional medical 

services.’”
144

  Pennsylvania law requires a certificate of merit in cases “based upon an allegation 

that a licensed professional deviated from an acceptable professional standard.”
145

  This rule also 

applies to claims alleging corporate negligence for the conduct of a corporation’s employees.
146

  

A certificate must be filed within sixty days of filing the complaint.
147

  The sixty-day period 

begins after the filing of the initial complaint alleging professional negligence
148

 and the period 

does not restart if a complaint is amended.
149

  A plaintiff showing good cause has the opportunity 

to move for an extension of an additional sixty days.
150

  The Pennsylvania Supreme Court 

adopted the certificate of merit requirement as “an orderly procedure that would serve to identify 

and weed non-meritorious malpractice claims from the judicial system efficiently and 

promptly.”
151

   

Rule 1042.3(a)(3) allows a party or attorney representing a party to provide a signed 

certificate of merit certifying, “expert testimony of an appropriate licensed professional is 
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unnecessary for prosecution of the claim.”
152

  The certificate of merit requirement applies to pro 

se medical malpractice plaintiffs “with equal force to counseled complaints.”
153

  “[A] pro se 

litigant’s ignorance of or mistaken assumptions about the requirements of Rule 1042.3 cannot 

serve as a reasonable excuse.”
154

 

The Pennsylvania Supreme Court directs courts to afford a party failing to comply with 

the certificate of merit requirement the opportunity to provide a reasonable explanation or 

legitimate excuse for his noncompliance.  A noncomplying party may have recourse “if he can 

file a proper certificate of merit and ‘demonstrate a reasonable explanation or legitimate excuse 

for untimely filing.’”
155

  “State and federal courts following Womer have held that it ‘dictates a 

very strict interpretation of the [certificate of merit] Rule and sets a high bar for establishing a 

reasonable excuse’ for failing to timely comply with the [certificate of merit] requirement.”
156

   

When considering the reasonableness of a party’s failure to timely file a certificate of 

merit, courts look to the party’s attempts to comply with the sixty-day deadline.
157

  In Ramos v. 

Quien, the court found the plaintiff took measures to comply with the sixty-day deadline by 

seeking a time extension before the limitation period expired and filing a certificate of merit 

before the expiration of the extension.
158

  The plaintiff’s counsel advanced “a number of 

legitimate excuses” for failing to file a certificate of merit within the sixty day period: “(1) he 

had exhausted his contingency fees; (2) he unsuccessfully attempted to refer Plaintiff's case to a 

number of firms; and (3) he was in the process of litigating abroad to secure visas for his fiancée 

and her son.”
159

  The court concluded the plaintiff’s actions “clearly did not amount to a 

‘wholesale failure to take any actions,’” and accepted the untimely certificate of merit because 

doing so did not prejudice the opposing party and the “[p]laintiff’s late filing may be excused 

here under the doctrine of substantial compliance.”
160
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Substantial compliance with Pa.R.C.P. No. 1042.3 may constitute a reasonable excuse for 

failure to file a timely certificate of merit.
161

  In Womer v. Hilliker, the plaintiff did not file a 

certificate of merit with his complaint or within the sixty-day period after filing it, and he did not 

move to extend the time period past the sixty-days permitted under Pa.R.C.P. No. 1042.3.
162

  The 

plaintiff argued he “substantially complied with Pa.R.C.P. No. 1042.3” by providing the 

defendant a report from an expert even if he did not properly file a certificate of merit.
163

   The 

plaintiff blamed his failure to timely file on “his counsel’s oversight or mistake.”
164

  The court 

found the plaintiff failed to present a reasonable excuse for noncompliance with Pa.R.C.P. No. 

1042.3.
165

  Womer “dictates a very strict interpretation of the [certificate of merit] Rule and sets a 

high bar for establishing a reasonable excuse” for failing to timely file.
166

   

The court in Ramos v. Quien excused the plaintiff’s untimely certificate of merit filing 

and found the plaintiff’s actions substantially complied with Rule 1042.3.
167

  The plaintiff sought 

a time extension from the state court before the expiration of the sixty-day time limit and filed 

the certificate of merit in federal court before to the expiration of his forty-five day extension.
168

  

The state court did not have jurisdiction to grant the extension due to the case’s removal to 

federal court.
169

  The court excused the plaintiff’s late filing under the doctrine of substantial 

compliance and found the “[p]laintiff’s actions clearly did not amount to a ‘wholesale failure to 

take any actions,’” and accepting the untimely certificate of merit would not prejudice the 

opposing party.
170

 

Mr. Davenport claims he did not file a timely certificate of merit because he “believed 

that the extension to file an amended complaint also extended the time to file the certificate of 

merit.”
171

  Mr. Davenport is comparable to the plaintiff in Womer, who failed to take action to 

comply with the sixty-day time limit.  He did not seek an extension of time to file the certificate 
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of merit and, as in Womer, his ignorance or mistake of the law does not provide a reasonable 

excuse. 

Mr. Davenport now wishes to file a certificate of merit under Rule 1042.3(a)(3), which 

allows either an attorney representing a plaintiff or the plaintiff if unrepresented to file a signed 

certificate of merit, “expert testimony of an appropriate licensed professional is unnecessary for 

prosecution of the claim.”
172

 He never explains why he did not move to extend his deadline.  

 Pennsylvania law provides “[a] very narrow exception to the requirement of expert 

testimony in medical malpractice actions applies ‘where the matter is so simple or the lack of 

skill or care so obvious as to be within the range of experience and comprehension of even non-

professional persons.’”
173

   This is the res ipsa loquitur doctrine where “an inference of 

negligence may be raised without direct evidence of the negligent act if three conditions exist: 

(1) the injury must be of a type not ordinarily occurring absent negligence; (2) the defendant 

must have had exclusive control of the instrumentality effecting the injury; and (3) the plaintiff 

must not have contributed to the injury.”
174

   

Even if Mr. Davenport’s medical and corporate negligence claims satisfied the doctrine 

of res ipsa loquitur for Rule 1042.3(a)(3) to apply, he still failed to establish a reasonable excuse 

for his failure to timely file his certificates of merit.  We grant the Hospital’s motion to dismiss 

the medical and corporate negligence claims.   

G. Mr. Davenport’s claims for intentional infliction of emotional distress may proceed 

against all Defendants other than the Police Department. 

 

Mr. Davenport alleges all Defendants intentionally inflicted emotional distress upon him. 

To plead an intentional infliction of emotional distress claim under Pennsylvania law, Mr. 

Davenport must allege each defendant (1) engaged in intentional or reckless conduct; (2) to an 

extreme and outrageous level; (3) which actually caused the distress; and (4) the distress is 
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severe.
175

  “In Pennsylvania, ‘[l]iability on an intentional infliction of emotional distress claim 

has been found only where the conduct has been so outrageous in character, and so extreme in 

degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and to be regarded as atrocious, and 

utterly intolerable in a civilized community.’”
176

  A plaintiff must plead facts demonstrating 

outrageous conduct by each defendant.
177

   

To maintain his claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress, Mr. Davenport must 

allege that he suffered “severe” emotional distress resulting from each Defendant’s conduct.
178

  

“Fright, horror, grief, shame, humiliation, embarrassment, anger, chagrin, disappointment, worry 

and nausea” all indicate “severe” emotional distress.
179

  His allegations of physical injury must 

accompany alleged emotional distress.
180

  In Lane, the party alleged she “continue[d] to suffer 

‘fear, anxiety, stress, anger, headaches, nightmares, humiliation, embarrassment, emotional 

distress [and] mental anguish’” which the court found sufficient to raise an inference of severe 

emotional distress.”
181

 

1. Mr. Davenport pleads an emotional distress claim against the Hospital.  

 

We previously found Mr. Davenport plead a claim for emotional distress against the 

Hospital.
182

   We again deny the Hospital’s motion to dismiss this claim for the same reasons.  

2. Mr. Davenport fails to state a claim for intentional infliction of emotional 

distress against the Police Department. 

 

Mr. Davenport fails to state an intentional infliction of emotional distress claim against 

the Police Department. Mr. Davenport’s claim against the Police Department is prohibited by 

Pennsylvania Political Subdivision Tort Claims Act.
183

  The Tort Claims Act protects political 

subdivisions from liability for acts committed by the subdivision’s employees.
184

  The statute 

also specifically exempts local agencies from all acts that constitute “crimes, actual fraud, malice 

or willful misconduct.”
185

 Because intentional torts are willful misconduct, municipalities cannot 
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be liable for claims of intentional infliction of emotional distress.
186

  Therefore, we grant the 

Police Department’s motion to dismiss this claim.  

3. Mr. Davenport states a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress 

against the individual Defendants.  

 

We next determine whether the Mr. Davenport states a claim for intentional infliction of 

emotional distress against Officer Smith, Officer Hipple, Detective Prouty, Nurse Andrews, Dr. 

Franz, and Mr. Ortiz.
187

  

 Accepting all of Mr. Davenport’s factual allegations as true and construing his second 

amended complaint in the light most favorable to him, Mr. Davenport states an intentional 

infliction of emotional distress claim against Officer Smith because he alleges Officer Smith 

assaulted him and physically coerced him into signing voluntary commitment documents and 

agreeing he was suicidal.
188

  Mr. Davenport claims Officer Hipple transported him on Shabbat 

against his wishes and religious beliefs.
189

 Mr. Davenport alleges Detective Prouty lied to him 

and threatened Mr. Davenport with criminal prosecution if he did not submit to a mental health 

evaluation.
190

  

 As for the Hospital employees, Mr. Davenport alleges Dr. Franz and Nurse Andrews kept 

him confined to a room, failed to provide him with any furniture for an extended period of time, 

misused Mr. Davenport’s statements to involuntarily commit him, and allowed others to take 

aggressive physical action against Mr. Davenport while Mr. Davenport regained 

consciousness.
191

  Mr. Davenport alleges Mr. Ortiz conspired with Officer Smith and Detective 

Prouty to involuntarily commit Mr. Davenport and deprive Mr. Davenport of his Second 

Amendment rights.
192

   

Mr. Davenport also alleges the “extreme and outrageous” conduct caused him “further 

disorientation and confusion.”
193

  He claims he required therapy from a psychologist to process 
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and heal from the damages inflicted upon him and suffered “physical injury and pain.”
194

 This 

conduct and its effect on Mr. Davenport, when taken as a whole, sufficiently states a claim for 

intentional infliction of emotional distress at this stage.  Mr. Davenport sufficiently pleads 

physical harm or injury for necessary infliction of emotional distress.  We deny all remaining 

motions to dismiss.  

III. Conclusion 

 We grant in part and deny in part Defendants’ respective motions to dismiss Mr. 

Davenport’s second amended complaint against them.
195

 We dismiss Mr. Davenport’s First and 

Second Amendment claims against the Police Department because the Police Department is not 

an actor who violated Mr. Davenport’s rights. We dismiss Mr. Davenport’s First Amendment 

claims against Officer Hipple, Officer Smith, and Detective Prouty because Mr. Davenport has 

not plead the existence of clearly established First Amendment rights or alleged how the officers 

violated his rights. We dismiss Mr. Davenport’s First Amendment claim against Dr. Franz and 

Mr. Ortiz because he has not alleged they are state actors under § 1983. We dismiss Mr. 

Davenport’s Second Amendment claim against Officer Smith, Detective Prouty and Mr. Ortiz 

because they did not prevent Mr. Davenport from possessing a firearm.  We do not dismiss Mr. 

Davenport’s Fourth Amendment claim against Officer Smith because Officer Smith does not 

move to dismiss it.  

We dismiss Mr. Davenport’s Monell claim against the Police Department because he does 

not plead which constitutional rights the Police Department failed to train on, or allege a pattern or 

practice of constitutional violations.  

We dismiss Mr. Davenport’s medical and corporate negligence claims against the Hospital, 

Dr. Franz, and Nurse Andrews because he failed to timely file a required certificate of merit. We 

dismiss Mr. Davenport’s federal Religious Freedom Restoration Act claim because the statute he 
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relies on is unconstitutional as applied to the states. We dismiss Mr. Davenport’s Pennsylvania 

Religious Freedom Restoration Act claim because Mr. Davenport failed to comply with the statutory 

notice requirements.  We dismiss Mr. Davenport’s malicious prosecution claim against Officer Smith 

because Officer Smith did not file criminal charges against Mr. Davenport. We dismiss Mr. 

Davenport’s claims for intentional infliction of emotional distress against the Police Department 

because Mr. Davenport’s claim is prohibited by the Pennsylvania Political Subdivision Tort 

Claims Act.  We do not dismiss Mr. Davenport’s claims for intentional infliction of emotional 

distress against the remaining Defendants.   

Mr. Davenport will proceed to discovery on his Fourth Amendment §1983 claim against 

Officer Smith and his intentional infliction of emotional distress claim against the Defendants 

other than the Police Department.   
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